RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-04-2016**

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2016AP188-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

CONNIE MAE APFEL,

Defendant-Appellant

On appeal from the Circuit Court for St. Croix County,

The Honorable Edward F. Vlack, presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CONNIE MAE APFEL

Frederick A. Bechtold State bar number 1088631 490 Colby Street Taylors Falls, MN 55084 (651) 465-0463

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant

I.

III. Statement of issues presented for review.

Whether, a prior statement of a witness to the effect that "the defendant hit me" may come into evidence in a case of misdemeanor battery or disorderly conduct, as a "prior inconsistent statement," when that witness was never asked "did the defendant hit you" and never testified to that particular factual issue?

Whether, a prior statement of a witness to the effect that "I did not consent to being hit by the defendant" may come into evidence in a case of misdemeanor battery, as a "prior inconsistent statement," when that witness was never asked "did you consent to the defendant hitting you" and never testified to that particular factual issue?

Whether, a prior statement of a witness to the effect that "I felt pain when hit by the defendant" may come into evidence in a case of misdemeanor battery, as a "prior inconsistent statement," when that witness was never asked "did you feel pain when the defendant hit you" and never testified to that particular factual issue?

IV. Statement on oral argument and publication.

This case involves the application of existing law to facts that are not in dispute. The Appellant/Defendant does not request oral argument or publication.

V. Statement of the case and facts.

This case comes upon Ms. Apfel's convictions after trial for the crimes of misdemeanor battery and disorderly conduct, (R.33), and the denial of Ms. Apfel's motion for post-conviction relief. (R.70). In her motion Ms. Apfel requested a new trial on the grounds that certain testimony of two police officer witnesses was inadmissible hearsay. (R.63). That testimony, which was objected to at trial, was to the effect that the victim/witness had told the police officers that Ms. Apfel had hit the victim/witness C.A.; that he did not consent to being hit; and that he felt pain when hit. Id. Ms. Apfel asserted in her motion for post-conviction relief, and continues to assert, that the circuit court erred in ruling that this testimony was admissible as "prior inconsistent statements" of the victim/witness C.A., because the State never laid a proper foundation for admitting such testimony. Id. Specifically, the State never asked C.A. if Ms. Apfel had hit him, whether he consented to being hit by Ms. Apfel, or whether he felt pain when hit when by Ms. Apfel. (R.63). Ms. Apfel contends that for a statement to be admitted as a prior inconsistent statement, there has to be some statement at trial for that prior statement to be inconsistent with.

On April 21, 2014, a criminal complaint was filed in the circuit court for St. Croix County, Wisconsin, charging Connie Mae Apfel with three crimes. (R.2). The first count was for Misdemeanor Battery, Domestic Abuse, contrary to §§ 940.19(1), 939.51(3)(a) and 968.075(1)(a), Wis. Stats. (R.2:1). The second count was for Disorderly Conduct, Domestic Abuse, contrary to §§ 947.01(1), 939.51(3)(a) and 968.075(1)(a), Wis. Stats. (R.2:2). The third count was for Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, PTAC, contrary to §§ 961.573(1) and 939.05(1), Wis. Stats. (R.2).

The central allegation of the battery charge was that Connie Apfel "on or about Saturday, March 29, 2014, in the City of River Falls, St. Croix County, Wisconsin, did cause bodily harm to [C.A.], by an act done with intent to cause bodily harm to that person, without that person's consent." (R.2:1). The central allegation of the disorderly conduct charge was that Connie Apfel "on or about Saturday, March 29, 2014, in the City of River Falls, St. Croix County, Wisconsin, while in a private place, did engage in abusive conduct, under circumstances in which such conduct tended to cause a disturbance." (R.2:1). C.A. was Connie Apfel husband, with whom she then resided and had children with. (R.51:105-06).

A jury trial on these charges was held on December 16, 2014. (R.51) The prosecution called three witnesses, the victim/witness C.A. (R.51:104-138), Officer Ryan Miller (R.51:139-167), and Officer Christopher Kober (R.51:167-77). Connie Apfel later testified in her own defense. (R.51:193-201).

The first witness to testify for the State was the victim/witness C.A. C.A.'s testimony was notable for his lack of recall to certain events of March 29, 2014.

The following are the portions of C.A.'s testimony relevant to this appeal (Mr.

Hartung for the State questioning):

- Q. [C.A.], do you want to be here today?
- A. No, I don't.
- Q. And do you want to testify against your wife?
- A. No, I didn't. (sic)
- Q. You care for your wife?
- A. I love her very much.
- Q. And this hard for you?
- A. Absolutely.
- Q. [C.A.], I recognize this is difficult, but I'd like to ask you about an incident that occurred on March 29th of 2014.
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Where were you living at that time?
- A. In River Falls at a hotel.
- Q. And who was staying with you?
- A. Just my wife and I and my daughter and my granddaughter.
- Q. And what's your granddaughter's name?
- A. It's [E.A.].
- Q. And how old is [E.A.]?
- A. Four.
- Q. Is she four currently today?
- A. Absolutely.
- Q. Would she have been three back on March 29th?
- A. Pretty much.

- Q. And on that day, the early morning of March 29th of 2014, did you call police officers?
- A. Yes, I did.
- Q. And why did you call the police?
- A. Because I thought they'd serve and protect and help us out.
- Q. Do you remember telling the police why you called them?
- A. No, I don't.
- Q. And did police arrive at your residence?
- A. Yes they did.
- Q. And they spoke to you?
- A. Yes they did.
- Q. Do you remember talking with them?
- A. No I don't.
- Q. Do you remember what you may have told them?
- A. No I don't.
- Q. [C.A.], on that evening do you remember police officers finding pipes in your hotel room?
- A. No I don't.
- Q. On that evening, had you been consuming alcohol?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Had you been smoking marijuana?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you observe Connie smoking marijuana?
- A. Excuse me?
- Q. Did you observe Connie smoking marijuana?

- A. No.
- Q. Would you have told the police something different on that night?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you and Connie get into an argument on that night?
- A. Yes we did.
- Q. What was that about?
- A. I can't recall.
- Q. Do you remember telling police officers what that was about?
- A. I don't recall.
- Q. Was there yelling?
- A. I don't recall.
- Q. Were you injured that night?
- A. I no, I wasn't.
- Q. Would you have told police something different?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you have a cut above your eye?
- A. I don't recall.
- Q. Do you remember talking to officers about a cut above your eye?
- A. No I don't.
- Q. Was Connie mad at you on that night?
- A. I don't recall.
- Q. Do you remember if you spoke to officers about Connie using drugs on that night?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. [C.A.], have you ever been convicted of a crime?

- A. Yes.
- Q. How many times?
- A. Ah, nine.
- Q. On that night were both your daughter, [D.A.], and your granddaughter, [E.A.], with you in the hotel room?
- A. Yes.

MR. HARTUNG: No further questions.

(R.51:107-10; A.-Appx. 15-18).

The trial transcript reflects that at no point during the State's direct examination was C.A. asked if Connie Apfel had struck or hit him. At no point did C.A. testify that he had been struck or hit by Connie Apfel. At no point did C.A. testify that he had no recollection of telling the officers that he had been struck or hit by Connie Apfel that evening. *Id.* On cross-examination, C.A. was asked by defense counsel the converse, namely whether *he*, C.A., had hit Connie Apfel, to which query C.A. testified that he had no recollection.¹ (R.51:136).

Further the trial transcript reflects that at no point during the State's direct examination was C.A. asked if he consented to Connie Apfel striking or hitting him. At no point did C.A. testify that he did not consent to being struck or hit by Connie Apfel. At no point did C.A. testify that he had no recollection of telling

¹ The circuit court gets this particular fact backward, writing in its decision that "When asked by Defendant's attorney whether she hit C.A., C.A. replied that he did not recall." (R.70.4; A.-App. 14). This finding of fact, while in error, does not appear to have played any significant role in Judge Vlack's decision and order. Had the defendant's attorney, in fact, asked C.A. whether the defendant had struck him, this appeal would likely not have been brought.

the officers that he did not consent to being struck or hit by Connie Apfel that evening. (R.51:107-10; A.-Appx. 15-18).

Finally, the trial transcript reflects that at no point during the State's direct examination was C.A. specifically asked if he experienced pain after Connie Apfel struck or hit him. At no point did C.A. testify that he experienced pain after being struck or hit by Connie Apfel. At no point did C.A. testify that he had no recollection of telling the officers that he experienced pain after being struck or hit by Connie Apfel that evening. *Id*.

After C.A.'s testimony the State called Officer Ryan Miller of the River Falls Police Department. When Officer Miller began to testify with regard to statements that C.A. made to him on the evening in question, defense counsel objected and a rather lengthy argument concerning that objection took place:

- Q And did you speak with the defendant, Ms. Apfel, about the blood on [C.A.'s] face?
- A. Yes I did.
- Q. What did she tell you?
- A. Initially, she informed me that nothing had happened; she didn't do anything and [C.A.] did not do anything. Throughout our investigation, we did split both parties up. Officer Kober went and spoke with [C.A], as I spoke with Connie. Officer Kober informed me he had more information for me about what he had learned from [C.A]. At that point I did go out into the hallway with [C.A] and spoke with him, [C.A], directly myself about what had happened. At that point, [C.A] did inform me that –

MR. HARRELSON: I would - Judge, this is getting towards hearsay, if we're talking about what [C.A] informed –

THE COURT: Would you approach, please?

(Court and counsel confer off the record.)

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, I need to speak to the attorneys for a few more minutes. Again, I appreciate your patience. If you'd please go out with the bailiff.

THE WITNESS: Yes, Your Honor. (Jurors exit courtroom.)

THE COURT: If you'd please have a seat in the hallway, officer, we'll get back to you in a minute.

THE WITNESS: Yes, Your Honor.

(Witness exits courtroom.)

THE COURT: Have a seat everybody. Okay, we're outside the presence of the jury. Go ahead, gentlemen.

MR. HARTUNG: Judge, I think his statements as to what [C.A] said are admissible based on prior inconsistent - prior inconsistent statements. It's not hearsay. I would note State v. Lenarchick, L-E-NA-R-C-H-I-C-K, 74 Wis 2d. 425 (1975), which states, "A witness's claimed non-recollection of a prior statement may constitute inconsistent testimony."²

Judge, the witness in this case - and I asked him thoroughly on my direct exam if he recalled giving certain statements to the officers, to which he said he did not recall.

I believe that that constitutes as prior - under the prior inconsistent statements and it would not be hearsay and admissible in this court.

THE COURT: Mr. Harrelson?

MR. HARRELSON: Judge, I think that the statutes clearly address this. This is addressed in Section 906.13, prior statements of witnesses. In examining a witness concerning a prior statement made by the witness, whether written or

State v. Lenarchick, 74 Wis.2d 425, 436, 247 N.W.2d 80, 87 (1976), held that "where a witness denies recollection of a prior statement, and where the trial judge has reason to doubt the good faith of such denial, he may in his discretion declare such testimony inconsistent and permit the prior statement's admission into evidence." While the circuit court was neither asked nor explicitly made such a finding of bad faith at trial, Ms. Apfel did not raise this issue and conceded at the motion hearing that the record would support such a finding. (R.73:3). See, State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, ¶ 31, 231 Wis.2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 ("[I]f a circuit court fails to make a finding that exists in the record, an appellate court can assume that the circuit court determined the fact in a manner that supports the circuit court's ultimate decision.").

not, the statement may not be shown, et cetera, but on request the same shall be shown or disclosed.

Then there's extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statement of a witness is addressed in subdivision - subsection (2). The extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless any of the following is applicable.

This is extrinsic evidence of a prior incon statement - prior inconsistent statement of the witness, which is [C.A.]. So, Your Honor must find that one of these three things applies: either the witness was so examined while testifying as to give the witness an opportunity to explain or deny the statement.

And, if [C.A.] - this is an inconsistent - this is extrinsic evidence of the statement. We need to have [C.A.] in here hearing this so that he has the opportunity to be cross-examined as to the statement that is about to be given.

I don't - that's properly a matter for the direct examination of [C.A.], not for bringing it in through this officer.

MR. HARTUNG: Judge, and if I may? He's testified he doesn't remember. We - I asked him questions about everything I was planning on asking him that night, all the circumstances. His testimony is he doesn't remember.

THE COURT: So, was he ever asked if he was given - had given a statement to the police?

MR. HARTUNG: I asked him if he remembered giving - I - I specifically asked him - first I asked, "Did such-and-such happen?" He said, "I don't recall." Then I rephrased my question as, "Do you remember telling police that such-and-such happened?" "I don't recall."

THE COURT: Was that question asked?

MR. HARTUNG: Yes, many times.

MR. HARRELSON: And Judge, it's my position that the extrinsic evidence would be what's brought in - in impeachment of [C.A] while he's testifying, not that we call a police witness to offer this as hearsay. We need - it is clearly hearsay evidence, Judge, and we need, therefore, a definition that it is not hearsay.

The statement is - and so looking at the 908.01 definitions, a statement - statements which are not hearsay -

THE COURT: Well, an inconsistent statement is not hearsay.

MR. HARRELSON: That's right, Judge, but it's - in this case, he's already been asked about that prior inconsistent statement and it - didn't you tell River Falls Police that - he's already been asked about that prior inconsistent statement and I don't believe he gets to come in now through this witness as - because this witness is not the declarant of the statement. That's essentially the problem, Judge. This witness is not the declarant of the statement and it's being

brought in extrinsically to shore up what Mr. Hartung has already offered when he asked him - when he asked [C.A.] about this.

MR. HARTUNG: It's - it doesn't matter who the declarant is. It's not hearsay.

THE COURT: Okay. First of all, under 908.01(4), statements which are not hearsay includes a prior statement by a witness, and it says the declarant, [C.A], testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement and the statement is inconsistent with declarant's testimony.

So, it's not whether he's subject to direct examination, it's subject to cross-examination, which he was.

MR. HARRELSON: But the statement has already been brought in when it was addressed to [C.A]. "[C.A], did you tell River Falls Police that?" And there we have it, so there - there's the statement, it's brought in, and I have crossexamined [C.A] on that, but now we have a different issue.

Now we have a different witness offering - offering what's hearsay and what - what this witness says [C.A] said has not been brought to - [C.A] isn't subject to cross-examination on that because [C.A] isn't here anymore.

THE COURT: But, if you - okay, but he's not been excused. He's still under subpoena. That's why I asked the question. Is this person excused? He's not. He's still here.

The questions I recall being asked of [C.A] were not specifically what he told the officer, unless I'm missing something.

MR. HARTUNG: Judge, I asked him about specific portions of specific factual allegations that the complaint entails and that according to the officer's report. First, I asked him to give a statement as to whether or not, for an example - and I don't know if this is what the testimony was, I'm using it strictly as an example - Did you drink that night? I don't recall. Did you give –

THE COURT: Let me ask the question, gentlemen, because I'll be very, very - more blunt. Was he ever asked either on direct or cross-examination, "Did you ever give a different statement to the police department?"

MR. HARTUNG: I asked him if he recalled giving those statements to the - giving certain –

THE COURT: That's not my question. That's not my question. I'm not asking, was he asked things about what he told the police. Was he asked, specifically, "Did you ever give a statement to the police that said such-andsuch?"

MR. HARTUNG: Yes, I did - but I never phrased it, "Did you ever tell the police something different?"

THE COURT: That's why I'm asking - that's why my question is so specific, because it was never –

MR. HARTUNG: Those questions were asked, Judge.

THE COURT: Okay. I want to make sure we're very clear. So you are telling me that you said, "[C.A], did you tell the River Falls Police Department blah, blah, blah?" I don't recall any question like that.

You may have asked, "Did you say you were drunk? Were you hit?" which might have been part of the statement allegedly given to the River Falls Police Department, but I don't recall any question.

MR. HARTUNG: My question - I'll give you an example, Judge, of the pattern of questions I used, and then I'll leave it to you to make your determination. "Did you and Connie get into an argument that night?"

THE COURT: That's not - and again -

MR. HARTUNG: "I don't recall." And then my follow up question, Judge, was, "Do you remember telling police officers that you did?"

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. HARTUNG: "I don't recall." That was the pattern of question and answer that I used on [C.A].

THE COURT: Mr. Harrelson?

MR. HARRELSON: *I don't have a clear recollection, Judge, of what Mr. Hartung asked. I have to be honest about that.*

THE COURT: Okay. Again, 908.01 says, it's not hearsay if it's an inconsistent statement and the person is subject to cross-examination, which he was.

And 906.13(2) says, "Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement is not admissible unless any of the following is applicable: one, the witness was so examined while testifying as to give the witness an opportunity to explain or deny the statement; two, the witness has not been excused from giving further testimony in the action.

He hasn't been excused. And it says you can't do it unless any of the following are applicable, and he's not been excused.

MR. HARRELSON: So, Judge, how do we - how do I - how do we address this? We bring him back in and we say an officer just testified in court that you said this to him.

THE COURT: Somebody could recall him later, but again, the issue is whether or not this officer can testify about what [C.A.] supposedly told him.

You raised the point it's extrinsic. Yes, it is but this says it doesn't come in unless, he hasn't been excused. He's subject to cross-examination. So, unless you show me something else, as far as I'm concerned, under these two sections the officer is allowed to testify about what [C.A.] told him for the reasons I stated.

[C.A.] has not been excused. He's subject to cross-examination and he was subject to cross-examination.

MR. HARRELSON: Judge, I'll accept your ruling, if I may maintain my objection.

THE COURT: Well, your objection is noted and you're not giving up your argument, but all I'm telling you is that based upon these statutes - and I appreciate the argument that it's extrinsic. Yes, it is. But, again, it's not hearsay, because he was subject to cross examination, and B., he's not been excused.

Now, I have to admit I don't have the same recollection whether or not the questions were asked exactly how Mr. Hartung phrased, but even if not, as long as he hasn't been excused 906.13(2)(a) is not violated, and again, it's not hearsay. So, I'll allow the officer to testify, but you've got to be careful. This officer is going beyond the questions asked, and there hasn't been an objection, but I'll just leave it at that.

MR. HARTUNG: No - and - and I realize that, Judge.

COURT: Okay. Okay. Okay, we'll bring the jurors back in. Then we'll bring the officer back in.

(R.51:144-54; A.-Appx. 19-29) (emphasis added). When Officer Miller came

back into the courtroom he testified as follows:

MR. HARTUNG, CONTINUING:

- Q. Officer, before that last break I think we were discussing when you left Connie to go and speak with [C.A.]. Does that sound familiar?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. I'd like to focus on the conversation you had with [C.A.] at that time. What did he say to you?
- A. Basically, he informed me that he had been seeing another woman. At that point, Connie was upset with him and hit him because she was mad.

(R.51:154; A.-Appx. 29).

Officer Miller also testified as to statements made by [C.A.] regarding

whether he consented to being struck or hit by Connie Apfel and whether he felt

pain:

- Q. Do you know if [C.A.] gave Connie permission to strike him?
- A. I overheard, while Officer Kober was going through the victim domestic abuse packet with him, that he did not give permission to strike.
- Q. Do you know if the punch hurt [C.A.]?
- A. From overhearing –

MR. HARRELSON: Judge, I would object on the grounds of hearsay. I don't believe this was covered earlier.

THE COURT: Okay. I've ruled on that. You may answer the question.

THE WITNESS: I overheard the conversation and that, yes, it did hurt.

(R.51:159-60; A.-Appx. 30-31).

Officer Christopher Kober of the River Falls Police Department was the

third witness to testify for the State. He also testified as to prior statements of

C.A. regarding whether he had been in a physical altercation with the defendant:

- Q. And did you speak with [C.A.] regarding what happened.
- A. Yes.
- Q. What information did he give you?
- A. He had stated that Connie and him had gotten into a physical altercation because she had found out that he had an old lady in Eau Claire that he was dating on the side and she attacked him.

(R.51:171; A.-Appx. 32). Later, Officer Kober, gave further specifics regarding statements made by C.A. concerning the attack, whether C.A. consented to the attack, and whether he experience pain:

- Q. I would like to draw your attention back to [C.A.]. Did he describe to you the ways strike that. I think earlier you testified that [C.A.] was attacked by Ms. Apfel, does that sound correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did he describe for you the ways in which he was attacked?
- A. Ah, it was a one-time thing. He said that he got punched, kicked, shoved, pushed, slapped with open hand, scratched. I think that was about all of it right there. I think he got punched -
- Q. Did he indicate to you as to whether or not he gave Ms. Apfel permission to do that?
- A. He did not give permission.
- Q. And, did he indicate to you as to whether those actions caused him pain?
- A. They did cause him pain.
- Q. And you know that because -
- A. He stated that.

(R.51:176; A.-Appx. 33).

At the close of the State's case, counsel for the defense moved for a

judgment of acquittal, arguing that there was insufficient evidence to support

verdicts of guilt for the charges asserted. (R.51:184; A.-Appx. 34). The Court

denied the motion, stating the following grounds:

THE COURT: Okay. Okay, first of all, with regard to the battery. You've got to show four elements. Bodily harm to [C.A], there was testimony there was harm and that it caused pain. Intended to cause - question for the jury. Without consent - that was specifically stated. Defendant knew he did not consent - it's up to the jury. Self defense, in my opinion, is probably going to be a question for the jury.

So, in my mind, there's a prima facie case. Whether it's beyond a reasonable doubt, that's not my decision at this point in time. So, as to the battery, that's denied. Disorderly conduct. Engage in abusive, otherwise disorderly conduct under circumstances tending to cause or provoke a disturbance. The testimony, again, the

evidence - not a lot, but let's just say there appeared to be an altercation. I'll leave it at that. And it was in a private place; it's in a hotel or motel room. Again, did it tend or cause or provoke a disturbance - a question for the jury. Prima facie. Motion is denied.

(R.51:185-86; A.-Appx. 35-36).

Ms. Apfel was subsequently found guilty by the jury on all three counts charged in the criminal complaint. (R.26, R.27, R.28; A.-Appx. 8-10). Sentencing was held on December 19, 2014. (R.47). The circuit court withheld sentence on Counts 1 and 3, and placed Ms. Apfel on three years of probation for Count 1 and two years of probation for Count 3. Conditions of probation included ninety (90) days conditional time, of which 10 days were to be served on consecutive weekends in February and eighty (80) days were stayed. (R.33:1-4; A.-Appx. 1-4). A jail sentence of ninety (90) days was imposed and stayed on Count 2, and Ms. Apfel was placed on three years of probations for Count 2. Conditions of probation again included ninety (90) days conditional time, of which 10 days were to be served on consecutive weekends in February and eighty (80) days were stayed. (R.33:5-7; A.-Appx. 5-7). On December 29, 2014, Ms. Apfel filed her Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief. (R.34). And on January 30, 2015, the circuit court stayed all of the conditional time pending appeal. (R.49:5).

On September 28, 2015, Ms. Apfel filed her motion for post-conviction relief. (R.63). A hearing was held on that motion on December 21, 2015. (R.73). There was no testimony taken at the hearing, as all facts pertinent to the motion

could be ascertained from the record. (R.73:3) Oral argument was made, however. (R.73). During that oral argument, there was questioning by the circuit court to Ms. Apfel's counsel, as to exactly what questions Ms. Apfel asserted needed to be asked to lay an adequate foundation for admitting the prior statements of C.A. as "prior inconstant statements." (R.73:15-19; A.-Appx. 37-41). Ms. Apfel's response, through counsel, was that while "I do not recall" can, pursuant to *State v. Lenarchick*, 74 Wis.2d 425, 247 N.W.2d 80 (1976), constitute an inconsistent statement, you still need to examine the question(s) asked to determine what that statement is inconsistent with, and that those questions must at the very least cover the elements of the crime. *Id*.

After the hearing, the State filed a written response to the defendant's motion on December 28, 2015, and Ms. Apfel filed a reply to that response on December 30, 2015. (R.68 and R.69). On January 12, 2016, the circuit court entered its decision and order denying Ms. Apfel's post-conviction motion. (R.70; A.-Appx 11-14). The circuit court's analysis of the law and facts was as follows:

At trial the State submitted and Defendant in her motion accepted that *State v*. *Lenarchik* stands for the proposition that "where a witness denies recollection of a prior statement, and where the trial judge has reason to doubt the good faith of such denial, he may in his discretion declare such testimony inconsistent and permit the prior statement's admission into evidence." 74 Wis.2d 425, 436, 247 N.W.2d 80, 87 (1976).

The key argument that the Defendant makes in her motion is that Officer Miller's and Officer Kober's testimony should not have been admitted. At trial this Court ruled that Officer Miller's and Officer Kober's testimony regarding C.A.'s statements to them was admissible. This Court still concludes that their testimony is admissible.

C.A. was understandably a very reluctant witness for the State. On the stand, C.A. recalled very few details of the incident with the Defendant. While this Court

perhaps did not explicitly find C.A.'s lack of recall to be in bad faith, the record supports such a conclusion. As *Lenarchik* makes clear, if a witness denies recollection of a prior statement, which C.A. did in this matter [Trial Transcript, pp. 104-138], then the Court may consider that testimony inconsistent. C.A. testified that he did not recall talking with the Officers Miller and Kober. He testified he did not recall what he told Officers Miller and Kober. He also testified he did not remember telling the police why he called them. This, in this Court's opinion, is a denial of a past statement, meaning that it can be considered an inconsistent statement.

Pursuant to § 908.01(4)(a)1 it is not hearsay if the statement is a witnesses' prior inconsistent statement. Under *Lenarchik*, statements may be inconsistent if the statement at trial is that the witness does not recall what was previously stated. That is precisely the situation in this case. The statement introduced through Officer' Miller and Kober's testimony was extrinsic, however, as this Court pointed out at trial, C.A. was never released from his subpoena and was available to testify, satisfying the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 906.13(2)(a)2. The Defendant's motion is, therefore, denied.

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