RECEIVED

05-13-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP000188-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CONNIE MAE APFEL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF POSTCONVICTION MOTION, ST. CROIX COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE EDWARD F. VLACK PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

MEGAN E. KELLY Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1101227

1101 Carmichael Road Hudson, WI 54016 (715) 386-4658 megan.kelly@da.wi.gov

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

At trial, victim C.A. could not recall statements made to law enforcement officers, and the State was allowed to elicit testimony from the officers regarding C.A.'s prior inconsistent statements. Did the circuit court appropriately exercise its discretion by admitting victim C.A.'s prior inconsistent statements?

The circuit court answered "yes" in denying Ms. Apfel's postconviction motion.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The parties' briefs will adequately address the issue presented, and oral argument will not significantly assist the court in deciding this appeal.

The State takes no position on publication of this Court's decision and opinion.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As plaintiff-respondent, the State exercises its discretion to not present a statement of the case. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. The State cites to relevant facts in the Argument section below.

ARGUMENT

C.A.'S DENIED RECOLLECTION OF HIS PRIOR STATEMENTS WAS INCONSISTENT, AND THUS, C.A.'S PRIOR STATEMENTS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE THROUGH THE TESTIMONY OF THE RESPONDING OFFICERS.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This Court reviews the circuit court's decision to admit evidence for an erroneous exercise of discretion. State v. Muckerheide, 2007 WI 5, ¶ 17, 298 Wis. 2d 553, 725 N.W.2d 930. The circuit court's decision will be upheld "if the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper legal standard, and reached a reasonable conclusion using a demonstrated rational process." Id. If a circuit court does not explain its reasoning, this Court may review the record to determine whether the record supports the court's decision. State v. Gonzalez, 2013 WI App 105, ¶ 32, 349 Wis. 2d 789, 837 N.W.2d 178.

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION BY ALLOWING OFFICERS TO TESTIFY REGARDING C.A.'S PRIOR STATEMENTS.

At trial, C.A. generally testified that he did not recall specific statements he had made to law enforcement on the night of the incident. (51:108-110). The State subsequently sought to introduce C.A.'s prior inconsistent statements through the testimony of law enforcement officers. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion by allowing the officers to testify about C.A.'s prior inconsistent statements.

Hearsay is an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Wis. Stat. § 908.01(3). Hearsay is generally inadmissible unless it falls within one of the proscribed exceptions. Wis. Stat. § 908.02. Certain out of court statements are not hearsay, such as prior inconsistent statements. Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4)(a)1.

Prior inconsistent statements are not hearsay. <u>Id.</u> Specifically, such statements are not hearsay where, "The declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is...[i]nconsistent with the declarant's testimony." <u>Id.</u> Extrinsic evidence regarding a prior inconsistent statement of a witness may be admissible if "[t]he witness has not been excused from giving further testimony in the action." Wis. Stat. § 906.13(2)(a)2.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court discussed prior inconsistent statements in State v. Lenarchick. 74 Wis. 2d 425, 247 N.W.2d 80 (1976). In Lenarchick, a witness denied recollection of admissions by the defendant. 74 Wis. 2d at 429. This witness also denied recollection of repeating these admissions to law enforcement. Id. The circuit court allowed the State to introduce the witness's statements through the testimony of the officer who took this witness's statement. Id. at 430. The defendant argued that testimony by law enforcement officers was not admissible as a prior inconsistent statement because the witness "never testified to any inconsistent facts but merely disclaimed any recollection of the particular conversation with Lenarchick or of the

particular conversation and statement to the police." <u>Id.</u> at 430-431.

The Court found that the witness's statement was admissible through the testimony of the officers because the trial judge doubted the "good faith" of the witness's failure to recollect her statement. <u>Id.</u> at 436. Thus, the circuit court judge properly exercised judicial discretion by finding the witness's testimony inconsistent and allowing law enforcement to testify to the witness's prior statement. <u>Id.</u> Ultimately, the Court held that if the trial judge has reason to doubt the good faith of such denial, then the trial judge may exercise discretion and declare the testimony inconsistent. <u>Lenarchick</u>, 74 Wis. 2d at 436. Upon declaring testimony inconsistent, the trial court may then allow the witness's prior statements to be admitted into evidence. Id.

In the present case, C.A. testified that he did not want to testify against his wife, nor did he want to be at the trial. (51:107). C.A. did recall some general details that were asked of him, such as where he was living on March 29, 2014 (the date of the incident), who he was living with, and that police arrived at his residence on March 29, 2014. (51:107-108). However, C.A.'s testimony at trial show that he denied recollection of his prior statement to law enforcement:

Q (By the State): Did you and Connie get into an argument on that night?

A (By C.A.): Yes we did.

Q: What was that about?

A: I can't recall.

Q: Do you remember telling police officers what that was about?

A: I don't recall.

Q: Was there yelling?

A: I don't recall.

Q: Were you injured that night?

A: I - no, I wasn't.

Q: Would you have told police something different?

A: No.

Q: Did you have a cut above your eye?

A: I don't recall.

Q: Do you remember talking to officers about a cut above your eye?

A: No I don't.

(51:109-110).

Essentially, C.A. denied recollection of his prior statement, and the circuit court found this testimony to be inconsistent. (51:152-153). Under Lenarchick, the circuit court properly found C.A.'s failure to recall to be inconsistent. In the circuit court's order denying Ms. Apfel's postconviction motion, the court stated that the record supports the conclusion that C.A.'s failure to recall prior statements was in bad faith. (70:3). The circuit court was correct as the record shows C.A.'s that C.A. did not want to be in court and did not want to testify against his wife, Ms. Apfel. (51:107).

Once the circuit court found C.A.'s testimony to be inconsistent, C.A.'s prior statements were appropriately admitted into evidence through the testimony of the officers. See Lenarchick, 74 Wis. 2d at 436. As the circuit court pointed out, the testimony of the officers consistent of extrinsic evidence. (70:4). However, C.A. still available to testify and was not released from his subpoena. (51:138, 70:4). Thus, the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 906.13(2)(a)2 were satisfied.

Ms. Apfel contends that the State did not ask C.A. the proper questions to allow C.A.'s prior statements to be introduced through the testimony of the officers. However, Ms. Apfel fails to provide authority which sets forth a standard for the exact questions that must be asked of a witness before a trial court may declare the witness's failure

to recall inconsistent and then allow introduction of prior statements. Here, the circuit court's ruling demonstrated that the court followed the analysis in <u>Lenarchick</u> as well as the applicable statutes regarding prior inconsistent statements. <u>See</u> Wis. Stat. §§ 809.01(4)(a)1 and 906.13(2)(a)2. Therefore, the circuit court applied and followed the proper standard.

The circuit court's analysis and the record demonstrate that C.A.'s denial of recollection was inconsistent, and thus, C.A.'s prior statements were admissible through the testimony of the officers. The circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion. Thus, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion, and both its ruling and Ms. Apfel's convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the circuit court.